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Petitions category “Miscellaneous” sent by Croats to the government and officials of the  Independent 

state of Croatia of 1941-1945 to save Jews from Croatia (n=32) 

Document No 1 Members and friends of the Saint Vid Society of the Blind on behalf of Haim 

Montiljo on 10 May 1941 
 



 



Translation: 

S T A T E M E N T. 
 
 
 

The undersigned former and present members of the board of directors, and regular 

members and blind people from the Society for supporting blind people Saint Vid from Zagreb, are 

giving the following statement: 
 

Mr. H. Montiljo was a big friend of blind people and Saint Vid from 1930 to 1938; 

from the moment he became a member, he was taking care for the improvement of the position of 

blind people in the society, and was therefore a representative of the Friendship group of blind 

people. 
 

He has been representative of the mentioned group for three years, and then in 

1933 he became a secretary of the society – he held this honorary position until 1935, as the other 

members of the board of directors. 

Saint Vid had had its headquarters in Mlinarska Street in Zagreb, and these were 

illegitimately and illegally taken away by the Yugoslav state in 1920 – however, on Mr. Montiljo’s 

initiative, Board of directors filed a lawsuit against the State and after an exhausting legal struggle, 

the State had to pay over two million Dinars to Saint Vid for the taken building in Mlinarska Street, 

and with this money the society was able to buy its current property in Radnička Street and an 

additional building in Ivkanćeva Street. 
 

In late 1935, Mr. Montiljo resigned from his honorary position of a secretary because 

he was not able to find a common language, together with many other patriotic gentlemen, with the 

majority of the former Board of directors who were members of a Masonic lodge Libertas in Zagreb. 
 

After that, Mr. Montiljo became the representative of the friendship group for the 

second time, and along with other notable people (mostly members of Croatian Peasant Party – Mr. 

Stjepko Vrtar, current president of the Finance Court and a literate; Franjo Vukotić, a captain of the 

Citizens’ Protection and a chief of Saint Vid; Zlatko Lamot, a merchant; Dr. Zvonimir Vinković, a 

secretary of the labor chamber and professor Adolf Gomerćić, a school principal of Trade School) 

and many members of the society, in 1938 he managed to overthrow the board consisting of people 

from the Masonic lodge and inaugurate a new, pro-Croatian board of directors in Saint Vid. 
 

Among big merits of Mr. Montiljo, we have to emphasize the fact that he would 

always fix teeth and provide dental care to blind people, both to those who were members of Saint 

Vid, as well as to those who were not. 
 

For all the reasons listed, the undersigned are stating that Mr. Montiljo’s work has 

indebted Saint Vid (which is the only society of a kind in Croatia, and there are over three thousand 

blind Croats), and that his humanitarian work has soothed the misery of blind Croats. 
 

In Zagreb, 10 May 1941 



Document No 2 Ordinary citizens on behalf of Emil Feigenbaum on 26 May 1941 
 



Translation: 
 

S t a t e m e n t. 
 

We, undersigned citizens of Bosanska Dubica, hereby state, for the sake of truth, the 

following. 
 

We know personally Mr. Emil Feigenbaum, now in Zagreb, was a resident of Bosanska 

Dubica from 1900 to 1921 where he was involved in commercial affairs, and he had a registered 

trading company. Throughout all this time, Mister Emil Feigenbaum distinguished himself with his 

way of life, manners and deeds as a fine Croat; he helped every Croat, either Catholic or Muslim, in 

every way possible whenever he could. 
 

After the collapse of Austria-Hungary, Serbian merchant organized an action whose sole 

purpose was to expel him from this region. They managed to do it, in this way: he was accused of 

selling his goods below price and therefore creating an unfair competition to Serbian merchants 

from this region. They claimed he was getting money from Croatia in order to destroy Serbian 

merchants. Related to that, Provincial Government in Sarajevo accused him of being an Austro- 

Hungarian confidant, arrested him, and without any proof pronounced a judgment by which he and 

his family had to leave Bosanska Dubica within eight days, without the possibility of delay. 
 

All abovementioned accusations made by the Serbian merchants against Mr. Feigenabum 

are ungrounded and false – it was all an organized hoax whose aim was to eliminate their 

competitor, who had a minimum profit and who was always there to help the peasants. 
 

Sulejman Čaušević Seal of Trade Association of Bosanska Dubica 

Hasan Cerić commissioner: Osman Pezić 

H.K. Čaušević Seal: Court jamia of Bosanska Dubica 

Muharem Mašić Mujičić Hasib 

Zubović Rejhan Sulejman Tabaković 

Smail Lelić Hamdija Šubanić 

Idriz Čaušević Mustafa Čejvan 

Bosanska Dubica, 26 May 1941 

Municipality of Bosanska Dubica confirms that the abovementioned statements are correct 

and truthful. 

 

In Bosanska Dubica, 29 May 1941 

Municipality mayor: 

T. Štefičić 
 

Seal: Municipal administration of Bosanska Dubica 

of Independent State of Croatia 



Document No 3 A chaplain (name illegible) on behalf of Milan Katz (and his family) on 26 May 1941 
 

 

 
Translation: 



PARISH OFFICE OF SAINT ANTHONY IN ZAGREB, 29 SV. DUH 
 
 
 
 

CERTIFICATE 
 

On behalf of this parish office it is confirmed that family of Mr. Milan Katz, residents 

of 224 Ilica Street, belongs to this parish, and as far as I know, the whole family lives an exemplary 

Catholic life. This is best confirmed by the fact that both of his daughters have been members of 

Mary’s Congregation for a couple of years, and the older daughter Zlata has been an active co- 

operant of a Crusading organization of our parish. Also, Mr. Milan Katz’s family has always been a 

keen supporter and a friend of every of our initiatives. Therefore, I am highly recommending Mr. 

Milan Katz’s petition, as he is one of our worthy parishioners. 
 

In Zagreb, 26 May 1941 
 

P a r i s h p r i e s t 
 

(Signature) 



Document No 4 Ordinary citizens on behalf of Dr. Gjuro Jelinek on 27 May 1941 
 



 



 



Translation: 

TO USTASHA POLICE COMMITTEE 
 

In/ 

Zagreb 

 
 

The undersigned is addressing the honorable title with the following elaboration of 

his petition: 
 

I have been living in Zagreb for 31 years; I was born in Banja Luka in 1883, where to 

my parents had arrived from in 1878 from Slavonia (Daruvar), and previously to Slavonia from 

Moravia in 1845. Already in Banja Luka we lived in tightest friendship with the Croatian people – 

older generations of Jović and Grgić families can confirm it; furthermore, I attended and graduated 

elementary school led by the Sister of Mercy, who were often guests in my family house, as well as 

the Franciscans from Petričevac and the local parish priest. 
 

I have arrived to Zagreb after graduating medical studies in Vienna and Berlin and 

here I have always been of pro-Croatian political orientation, and during the World War I saved lives 

of many Croatian sons in Karlovac and Zagreb. With my professionalism and honest work I gained a 

lot of grateful patients among the Croats, which is proven by their signatures. I have to emphasize 

that the deceased mayor of Zagreb, dr. Ante Bauer, was my patient for a long period of time, and on 

every occasion he would express his gratitude. I have provided medical care for many paupers and 

pupils, and to the officialdom and not so wealthy citizens I have been charging only the amounts 
 

necessary to pay the rent and cover material costs. 
 

In every occasion I have supported every cultural endeavor of Croatian people, as well as its 

social institutions, and this can be proven with my membership in the following societies: Croatian 

Medical Association – Strossmayer University Society – Croatian Academic Chamber – Philanthropy 

Society – Saint Vid Society – Maternity – Rescue Society – Nutrition – Society for the construction of 

a monument of King Tomislav – Society for the construction of a monument of A. G. Matoš, and I am 

also a supporter of Matica hrvatska and Croatian Women’s Magazine, and therefore I can calmly and 

with every right claim that I have become part of Croatian nation and this country, same as any 

other pureblooded Croat. 
 

I have always worked peacefully and quietly and I have never stood out for any bad reasons, 

but now I am forced to cite it all in order to elaborate my petition, so that the famous title could 

grant me a permission for a permanent stay in my office and my apartment, because a potential 

move to an area far away from the city would jeopardize both my and the existence of my patients 

who have been coming to my office for decades – that way, they would be no longer able to visit the 

physician they trust. 

So I am pleading the famous title – and my plea has been joined by the undersigned patients 

– for an urgent and benevolent decision regarding my petition; with my warmest expressions of 



gratitude and a promise that I am going to continue using my knowledge and modest skills for good 

of Croatian people, I am sending my regards with sincere loyalty. 

In Zagreb, 27 May 1941 Dr. Gjuro Jelinek 

A dentist 

4 Martićeva Street/III 
 

(20 signatures) 



Document No 5 Ordinary citizens on behalf of Emanuel Šulhof on 28 May 1941 
 



Translation: 
 

Copy 
 

To 
 

Ministry of Internal Affairs 

of Independent State of Croatia 

Racial department 
 

In 
 

Zagreb 
 

Referring to the Law Decree number 78 on Racial Affiliation (Narodne novine number 16 

from 30 April 1941), I feel free to send my humble petition to the famous title, so that it recognizes 

the rights that belong to the people of Aryan descent to me and my family, in accordance with 

Article 6 of the mentioned Law Decree. 
 

My name is Emanuel Šulhof, born on 4 September 1891 in Valpovo, I am a trade clerk, 

married, father of two, my wife Štefica was born on 29 August 1899, in Morović, our daughter Mira 

was born on 28 January 1921, in Valpovo, and our son Albert on 29 May 1924, in Zagreb. 
 

As a young man I was a member of Croatian Falcon society in Valpovo, from 1907 to 1912. 

After that I went to the army, the 78th infantry regiment in Osijek, where I served as a corporal. 
 

In 1914, after the outbreak of the World War, I went with my regiment on the battlefield in 

Serbia, on Crni vrh, were I was wounded, and after the recovery I was sent on the Russian front, 

where I was till 4 July 1916, when I was wounded again and imprisoned by the Russians. I came back 

home in 1918. 
 

I did not serve Yugoslav army, I was got a telegram to join it on 3 April 1941, but I did not 

respond to the call, which I can prove with the attached telegram. 
 

In 1920 we re-established Croatian Falcon where I was an active member until, under 

pressure from Belgrade government, became Yugoslav Falcon. 
 

In 1923 I came to Zagreb where I have always been a member of Croatian societies. In 1925 

we established Croatian choir society Tomislav, and on its first assembly they elected me for 

society’s treasurer, which is the role I had there for the first five years. My wife was also an active 

member, and as such she was involved in various performances and was a member of the church 

choir. 
 

On every elections I voted for Croatian Party and I supported actively, morally and materially 

only the Croatian idea, and I am known as a fine and a firm Croat. 
 

I do not own, nor have I ever owned any property. I have never been arrested by the police 

or sentenced by the court. 



Truthfulness of my statements can be confirmed by the gentlemen who are confirming it 

with their honorable signatures. 
 

In Zagreb, 28 May 1941 
 

For homeland – ready! 
 

Emanuel Šulhof 

Zagreb 

31 Škrlčeva Street 
 

(5 signatures) 



Document No 6 Ordinary citizens on behalf of Leo Fromer on 3 June 1941 
 



Translation: 

LEO FROMER 

ZAGREB 

ERDEDI STREET Zagreb, 3 June 1941 
 
 
 

USTASHA POLICE COMMITTEE, 

Jewish Department, 

Z A G R E B 
 

The undersigned is pleading the abovementioned title for the status of an honorary 

Aryan, and to my petition I am attaching the following qualifications: 
 

I was born in Mostar (Herzegovina) on 19 November 1893, I was mobilized for the 

World War and captured in Russia for 4 years, and after my return I lived in Sarajevo, and for the last 

20 years I have lived in Zagreb. 

I have always felt as a Croat and on the elections I have always given for Dr. Maček, 

the former leader of Croatian people. 
 

For the last 17 years I have been employed as an official at Rosija-Fonsier insurance 

company (Zagreb, 6 Jelačić Square). Most of the employees of the office are supporters of the 

current government, and since their salaries have been pretty low so far (i.e. not sufficient for a 

decent living), throughout my work there (and even today) I have been helping them materially, and 

they can attest it. Their names are: Andrija Stanišak, Ivan Kovačićek, Ivko Vid, Ivanka Tomljenović 

and Nada Böhm. I will also add names of certain respectable Croats who are well acquainted with 

me: Salko Alečković (a wholesaler from Zagreb, 14 Tkalčićeva Street), Rudolf Prpić (a wholesaler 

from Zagreb, 13 Vrhovčeva Street), and if you please, I can give the names of many more respectable 

people who would confirm my words. 

Since I have always supported my colleagues morally and materially, and therefore 

supported their struggle for Croatianhood, today I own no property, and if I lose my job, my 

kindliness would put me at the disfavor of others. 
 

Kind regards, 
 

(Signature) 
 

(5 signatures) 



Document No 7 Milan Ramušćak on behalf of Ruža Lang on 20 June 1941 
 



Translation: 

D E C L A R A T I O N 
 
 
 

The above-signed Milan Ramuščak gladly and voluntarily declares the following: 
 

I have been a business partner of Mrs. Ruža Lang from Zagreb, 6 Lopašićeva Street, for a long 

period of year, and therefore I can affirm you that she has always been sound and impeccable in all 

her business affairs. 
 

As far as I know, she leads a very modest life, because she has no capital money; she is 

employed as a private official and with her work she supports herself and her ill son. 
 

Even though she was born as a Jew (now already baptized), she has always been a fine 

Croatian, and I have never heard that she did something contrary to Croatian national interests. 
 

With this statement I would like to contribute to the positive outcome of her petition 

regarding point 6 of the Law Decree on Racial Affiliation. 
 

Zagreb, 20 June 1941 
 

MILAN RAMUŠČAK 

shop of trade books, drawing institute, bindery, 

printing office and stationery store, ZAGREB 
 

Gjuro Ramuščak m.p. 



Document No 8 Maca Bošković on behalf of Franjo Bošković on 27 June 1941 
 



 



 



Translation: 

Petition by Maca Bošković 

from Zagreb, 

8 Nodilova Street (1st floor) 
 

To the MINISTRY OF HEALTH 
 

of INDEPENDENT STATE OF CROATIA 
 

in 
 

Z a g r e b 
 

My husband Franjo Bošković, a Jew, an official of Union, a chocolate and candy factory from 

Zagreb (29 Branimirova Street) was taken away on the 21st of this month to Zoor, and from there to 

an unknown location (allegedly to Karlobag or to the island of Pag) for a forced labor. 

During his absence, I have received a notification on his dismissal signed by the 

commissioner Mr. dr. Alfons Baron. It expires on July 31st (of this year). 

On the 10th of this month, my husband sent a petition to the Ministry of Internal Affairs in 

order to gain a permission to keep his job, i.e. to acquire the so called Aryan right. 
 

The copy of this petition is in Appendix A/. 
 

However, I have found out that it is this respectable Ministry of Health who is in charge for 

resolving the issues regarding the Jewish employees, and since my husband is absent, I feel free to 

file personally such petition to the respectable title with the following explanation: 
 

I was born in Kutina, on the territory of Independent State of Croatia; I am a Roman-Catholic, 

a Croat, my parents were pure Aryans, and I am proving it with their certificates of baptism – the 

copies are in Appendix B/, C/ and D/. 
 

On 5 January 1939, I got married to Franjo Bošković – as a proof, I am enclosing a copy of a 

marriage certificate; Appendix E/. 
 

My husband is a humble, low-level official, who has always been a decent citizen and has 

never done anything that might harm the interests of Croatia or Croatian people – on three 

occasions he was a reserve officer on a military exercise, and every time he would emphasize the 

fact he is a Croat. During elections, he has always voted for the Croatian representatives. 

I have always had ingrained Croatian convictions, because I was raised that way, and I have a 

brother who is an Ustasha and who has sworn his allegiance long before 10 April 1941! My parents, 

more precisely my mother was born as a German, but her parents moved to Croatia when she was 

still a child, so both us have always been honest Croats. Our father has lived in the province (Kutina 

and Popovača) for a long period of time and was a member of Croatian societies which caused him 

many problems, so today, as an old man, he has nothing – he survives from the alms he gets from his 

children and his son-in-law – my husband, Franjo Bošković, who helps him. 

– . – 



If my husband, who is a Jew, loses his job, it will mostly affect me and my old father, pure 

Aryans, because then my husband will not be able to support either me or my father.- 

I have been sickly for the last couple of years and I can prove it with a medical certificate, so 

if my husband loses a job, it will be I – an Aryan – who will suffer the most, because I will not be able 

to get the proper medical care.- 

For all the reasons mentioned above, and for all the reasons mentioned in the attached 

petition sent to the Ministry of Internal Affair, 

I plead fervently 
 

This Ministry of Health to resolve positively this petition I am submitting personally and on behalf of 

my absent husband (absent because he was sent to forced labor) Franjo Bošković, because I am a 

pure Aryan – to resolve it in a way to allow him to keep his job at the Union candy and chocolate in 

Zagreb, 29 Branimirova Street, and to inform about it the commissioner of the mentioned company, 

Mr. dr. Alfons Baron, in Zagreb.- 

In Zagreb, 27 June 1941 

Signature 



Document No 9 Marija Masten, mother of an ustasha, on behalf of Kazimir Donner on 28 June 1941 
 



 



Translation: 

Marija Masten (married) 

Mother of Ustasha Matija Gubec 

Z a g r e b 

 
 
 
 
 

Our Poglavnik! 
 
 
 

Since I have matured as a person, I have realized that the first and the greatest notion for a human 

being is God, and after God: homeland. 
 

I have lived by this principle and I have planted it into the heart of my only son, who did not become 

Ustasha on the 10 April 1941 (like many), but six years earlier. 
 

I am not trying to profit by his merits; I am just stating the facts – I am a Croatian mother who, since 

her son’s early days, has been planting love for the homeland and Croatian nation into his heart. As a 

Christian-Catholic, I put my consciousness and love for the truth in the first place, and they are 

dictating this letter. 
 

I have known Dr. Kazimir Donner, a lawyer from Zagreb, since he was a boy. 
 

He is a nephew of a deceased major of Croatian Army, Julije Donner, whose love for Croatianhood 

has been documented and publicly confirmed. The nephew’s love for Croatia has equalled that of his 

uncle – he used to say škrlak instead of šešir [a hat] and rubača instead of košulja [a shirt], because it 

sounds more Croatian. 
 

He would help Croatian paupers whenever he could. For example: Mrs. Lamer’s ex husband and his 

current wife (who saw Mrs. Lamer as an obstacle by the Old Catholic Church laws), wanted to put 

old Mrs. Lamer to Stenjevac; even though she gave birth to seven of their children. Her Catholic 

lawyer, Dr. Juričić from Vlaška Street, left her stranded a day before the hearing at the poor man’s 

commission. It would have all turned our nasty if it was not for Mr. Donner who saved the old lady. 

He did it for the sake of philanthropy, not taking a dime from her. He did his job doughtily for over 

and year – free of charge, since she had no means of paying for the process. 
 

Another example: one Croatian holder of PhD in philosophy and a private assistant professor 

(docent) was accused of a fraud. He would have been sent to prison if it was not for Dr. Donner. Dr. 

Dooner was representing the counterparty. Realizing the hard position of a Croat, father of five, in 

order to save him from disgrace he said: Dear Sir, I have to visit my client – a foreign company, and 

he did so – the honour of the man and the father has been saved. 
 

These are only two examples our of many. 



Everything else can be seen and it is confirmed by the signature in a petition that was submitted by 

Dr. Donner to the High Ministry of Internal Affairs for the equality of rights with people of Aryan 

descent. 
 

Dr. Donner is now in a prison in Kerestinec. We need a man with such qualifications and a patriot in 

our ranks, because he will always work for the benefit of his dear Homeland and for the interest of 

Croatian people. 
 

If a warm plea from a person’s heart, for the well-being of an honest man who is in trouble, can 

break through the solid armor of necessary, severe measures, then I am convinced that even my 

plea, based on firm foundations, will be heard and fulfilled by our Poglavnik, in order to set Dr. 

Donner free and accept his petition for acquisition of equal rights with the people of Aryan descent. 
 

In Zagreb, 28 June 1941 
 
 
 

Marija married Masten 

111 Zvonimirova Street 



Document No 10 Ordinary citizens on behalf of Stjepan Levi on 10 July 1941 
 



 



Translation: 

To the revivalist of Croatia. 
 

 
Dr. A N T E P A V E L I Ć. 

Poglavnik 

of Independent State of Croatia. 
 

In Z a g r e b. 
 

 

Undersigned citizens, possessors, employees and workers, most pure Croatian sons of the 

Eastern periphery of Croatian capital would like to address you with a 

P e t i t i o n . 

explained in detail. Through your work for the liberation of us, Croats, and with restoration of 

Independent State of Croatia, for the welfare of all of us, you have created and are still creating all 

the laws, conducting promised decisions into deeds, and these deeds are removing all the obstacles 

that are standing in the way of the progress and blooming of our beautiful Homeland. 

Among the first, you have created the law regarding the Jews, which justly takes away all the 

capital they gained in Croatia over the backs of Croatian sons; it is this law that forces them to get 

familiar with physical work and order on whom the future and welfare of our Homeland lays. 

This law, however, has captured our fellow citizen, like-minded friend STJEPAN LEVI, a 

resident of 34 Svetice. 

He spent his childhood and youth with us, and we know him as a Croatian patriot, an 

exemplary and solid man, guardian of his mother and his 26-year-old brother who is a 100% disabled 

person, and whose photo is in the appendix. 

Mentioned Stjepan Levi possess no mobile or immobile property; the only thing he has is his 

humble salary, and this salary is how he deals financially with all his hard obligations. 

On June 21 (this year), STJEPAN LEVI was arrested by Ustasha Police, condemned to hard 

labor and taken to the island of Pag (he is still there). 

Undersigned are deeply convinced, knowing your austerity, determination and persistence, 

but also knowing your great inclination for righteousness especially for poor and weak, and we are 

more than convinced that you will see our petition as an urgent thing, and order to your 

subordinates to grant amnesty to Stjepan Levi and let him come back to us and be among us; to 

come back to his mother and his powerless brother, to whom he is the only breadwinner. 

We will respect your decision entirely, no matter what the verdict is going to; we are 

expecting it as we are 

For Homeland – Ready! 

Zagreb, 10 July 1941 

(25 signatures) 



Document No 11 Josip Lamanjac on behalf of Pera Morgenštern (and his sons Samojlo and Josip) on 

15 July 1941 
 



 



Translation: 

TO HIS EMINENCE, SIR 

Dr. ANTE PAVELIĆ, 

POGLAVNIK OF INDEPENDENT STATE OF CROATIA 
 

ZAGREB. 
 
 
 

My name is Josip Lamanjac from Hrvatska Mitrovica, son of deceased Ilija Marčinković and Ana 

Lamanjac. 
 

I am an illegitimate child of the abovementioned parents, and I was seven years old when both of 

them died. 
 

No one took care of me back then, so from my neighbours’ stories and glimpses of my child’s 

memories, I remember that I was taken by Pera Morgenštern and his wife Šarlota. They raised me as 

one of their children. 
 

I remember no other parents – I want to confirm that, besides food and clothes, this couple gave me 

all the love I needed; the love parents give to their own child. 
 

I also wish to confirm that their sons, Samojlo and Josip, have always treated me as if I was their own 

brother. 
 

They were supporting me while I was attending school in Hrvatska Mitrovica. Later, together with 

their children, they sent me to learn the craft in Mr. Živan Paunović’s workshop in Hrvatska 

Mitrovica – with Pera and Šarlota Morgenštern’s support, I managed to become a car mechanic. 
 

Finally, during my military service, they were sending me gifts and presents, and when the service 

was over, I returned to live at their place. 
 

Now I am 23 years old I and I give you my word – or I can take an oath if needed – that it is true that 

Mr. and Mrs. Morgenštern saved one Croatian boy with no father or mother or anyone who would 

take care of his moral and material upbringing. 
 

I also want to add, under oath, that in their home I have never heard one word or one allusion that 

would make me conclude they are hostile towards Croats or that they deserve to be put under 

punitive or preventative measures. 
 

However, couple of months ago Pera Morgenštern was put into internment as a Jew and a so-called 

enemy of Croatian people, while his sons Samojlo and Josip were taken to Zagreb a couple of days 

ago; I have heard they are in the same group, while Pera Morgenštern is in Koprivnica in Dabica 

factory. 
 

So far I have waited and stayed silent thinking that the state authorities will investigate the case and 

realize that Pera Morgenštern is innocent of any guilt. However, now, as an honest man and Croat I 

cannot stay silent any longer; I have to confirm that I have known Pera Morgenštern and his sons 



since I was a child since I grew up in their home. I know they are innocent and that they are not 

Croatian enemies; on contrary, they are friends of Croats; they raised me who had no parents, and 

made me a useful member of human society. 
 

In my humble opinion, Pera Morgenštern and his sons and his wife Šarlota have proved to be 

meritorious by taking and raising an orphan child; they proved to be meritorious before 10 April 

1941, and therefore I believe they should enjoy all the rights as any other person of Aryan descent. 
 

However, this is a matter of the Head of the state which I cannot influence nor I have the right to do 

so – but, I am deeply grateful to Pera and Šarlota Morgenštern and their sons and therefore I have a 

duty to ask YOUR EMINENCE to revoke all the preventative measure set against them and set Pera, 

Samojlo and Josip Morgenštern free. By this petition, with greatest gratitude and loyalty, I beg you 

most earnestly and obligingly to fulfill my plea. 
 

In Hrvatska Mitrovica, 15 July 1941 
 

Josip Lamanjac 

Hrvatska Mitrovica 



Document No 12 Ordinary citizens on behalf of Olga Weiller on 20 July 1941 
 



Translation: 
 

MINISTRIY OF INTERNAL AFFAIRS, 
 

Z a g r e b. 
 
 
 

Undersigned Olga Weiller, born Fuchs, born in Dolnja Stubina on 4 March 1905, now Roman 

Catholic, resident of Zagreb, would like to plead the honorable title for the following permissions: 
 

1. / To be able to stay in Zagreb (I am a divorced woman, a private official, and I live in a 

shared household with old ill parents. I take care of them and support them with my brother) 
 

2. / To be allowed to remove the Jewish sign. 
 

I am corroborating this petition with the fact that, together with my brother Mr. Milan 

Fuchs, I was providing food and money for the Croats who did not want to join the Yugoslav army. 

They were hiding at Mrs. Cecilija Dežmar’s place, in 32 Gajeva Street. Besides that, I was taking care 

of Ustasha Zvonimir Dežmar while he was ill, and that way I have enabled him to work. 
 

Truthfulness of my words can be confirmed by Mrs. Cecilija Dežmar, her husband Dragutin 

Dežmar, and her son (Ustasha) Zvonimir Dežmar. 
 

I would like to emphasize that I have had deep feeling for my Croatian homeland since 

childhood, and my burning desire even today is to be able to live in a place where I have earned for 

my bread for the past 17 years. 
 

Hoping that the famous title will take my petition into consideration and find it to be 

justified, I am thanking you in advance for the positive answer. 
 

Kind regards, 
 

Olga Marija Weiller born Fuchs 
 

In Zagreb, 20 July 1941 32 Gajeva Street 
 

(Signatures) 



Document No 13 Josip Sladić, a retired state railway clerk, on behalf of Jews in general on 30 July 

1941 
 



Translation: 
 

PETITION for Mr. Poglavnik 
 
 
 

Since some are addressing Poglavnik even for their personal profit, I, who ask nothing for myself, 

have decided to take this step as well. In the name of love for the neighbour, for the sake of justice 

and humanity, I would like to warn you about certain things and deeds that can be rectified only 

through your personal discernment and initiative. 
 

Fine, honest, diligent and benevolent people, who have done nothing wrong, who have not 

disobeyed the laws, are children of God and they should enjoy all the civil rights and legal safety. 
 

Former treatment of our Jews has demonstrated that they are divided into two groups: Jews- 

principals-exploiters and Jews-communists. The treatment of those is understandable. But, it has 

been neglected that there is also the third group of the Jews – the one that has nothing to do with 

those mentioned. These are poor people who live modestly together with the rest of Croats, as 

private employees in shops or so; with an average monthly income that allows them to make it 

through their lives. Members of the third group are hundred times better people than many of the 

Aryan-Croats: exploiters, traitors, Yugoslav patriots who wear medals of Saint Sava. 

It seems that former treatments are unnecessary; people who have not done anything wrong are all 

of a sudden afraid for their existence and for their lives; they weep for justice, kindliness and 

humanity, and among the psalms of David they look for the prayer: De gente iniqua, sine bontate et 

sine misericordia libera nos Domine! 
 

I know some harmless people who have converted to our Catholic faith. They go to church, attend 

masses, take Communion and – what a miracle: our Lord allows them to enter his house and makes 

friends with them; however, they are not allowed to go to a park and approach people! It is indeed a 

touching tragedy of a man in a desert where there is no Herzenskultur! Where there is no heart, 

there is no Croatia either! In some Jewish houses I have seen books like Quo vadis and Ben-Hur. I am 

afraid the foreign world will observe us and that we will burden our future with certain doings. 
 

It needs to be done what is necessary to build and secure Croatian freedom and future. We have to 

eradicate Greater-Serbian/Chetnik and Yugoslav spirit, as well as the ungodly and impious 

communism. But, do not let some unnecessary doings from centuries-old Aryans arouse a sense of 

injustice – this could be disastrous. Leave alone at least the Jews from the third group, the ones who 

are our fellow citizens and who lead peaceful and decent civic life; because they make a harmless 

and guiltless factor of our society, who does not want to conspire, sabotage or create mess. 
 

It would be much better and noble to attract people by treating them fine, to make them useful to 

our Croatia. 
 

Perhaps it would be wise to settle most of our Jews in Bosnia to make it safer – in place of orthodox 

people who, for the sake of Greater Serbia, wanted to banish eastern fairies from the Bosnian 

grove... (Savfetbeg Bašagić). 



Mr. Poglavnik! There is something that ties me for you and your great deed, and it is something that 

has been alive inside of me long, long before I have first heard of you. That something is more 

powerful than formal Ustasha’s Oath of Allegiance. It is a sentiment I have for Croatian homeland 

and Croatian freedom! 
 

For Poglavnik and homeland – ready! 
 

(Josip Sladić, 

official of state railway) 



Document No 14 Josip Lamanjac on behalf of Pera Morgenštern (and his sons Samojlo and Josip) on 

1 August 1941 
 



Translation: 

TO HIS EMINENCE, SIR 

Dr. ANTE PAVELIĆ, 

POGLAVNIK OF INDEPENDENT STATE OF CROATIA 
 

ZAGREB. 
 
 
 

Couple of weeks ago I took the liberty of asking Your Eminence for mercy; to release my foster 

parent Pera Morgenštern, a Jew from Hrvatska Mitrovica, from the concentration camp in Koprivnica 

– Danica factory. I have asked the same for his sons, Samojlo and Josip, who are imprisoned in police 

station in Petrinjska Street in Zagreb. 
 

In order to prove he took care of me as if I was his biological child, I attach the invoice which shows 

Mr. Morgenštern bought me a room as a future wedding gift. 
 

However, couple of days ago, while I was threshing, Ustasha police of Hrvatska Mitrovica took away 

that room so now I, as a Croat, have nowhere to sleep. Today I have come to the station to make a 

complaint, but I was kicked out and warned not to show up again. A remark was made that probably 

I am a Jew myself, since I have been raised up by the Morgenšterns. 
 

However, I am not guilty for the fact that, when I was without parents, I was not taken and raised by 

a Croat Catholic or Muslim, but by – Jews. 
 

Now, when they are in trouble, as a Croat I would offend the Croatian honour by leaving them and 

not trying to help them. 
 

I believe Your Eminence will approve of my Croatian manner and give an order to set Pera 

Morgenštern and his sons free. I would also like to ask, for myself, my room back. 
 

For homeland – ready! 
 

Josip Lamanjac 

Hrvatska Mitrovica 
 

In Hrvatska Mitrovica, 1 August 1941 
 

P.S. I attach a court decision which proves Jew Morgenštern was a tutor to my brother and me 



Document No 15 Marko Horvatić on behalf of Vilim Schönauer on 3 August 1941 
 



Translation: 

I hereby confirm steadily that all the arguments presented by the petitioner are entirely true, 

because I am well familiar with his family and him personally – we have all lived in the same village 

for a certain period of time and I know what kind of person he is. I would especially like to 

emphasize the truthfulness of the arguments regarding myself. I was a guardian of the tomb of 

deceased Dr. Antun Starčević and a distinguished nationalist; a worker (from Croatian Party of 

Rights) and a teacher in Šestine – when I was fired in 1922 and thrown out on the street with 4 of my 

minor children, with no means for living, Mr. Vilim Schönauer, a merchant from Šestine, was the first 

who voluntarily, without any pleas or persuasions from my side, decided to help me and took care 

about me and my family for 3 months, until I got a job at the City Council in Zagreb. Therefore, I 

would like to give warmest recommendation to his petition, because he has earned it with his 

unselfish deeds and his patriotic sentiments towards the Croatian people. 

In Zagreb, 3 August 1941 
 

Marko Horvatić 

City Councelor 

Former school principal in Šestine 

and Croatian Ustasha 



Document No 16 Ivan Dukić, a parish priest, on behalf of Vilim Schönauer on 5 August 1941 
 



Translation: 

Undersigned parish priest can confirm that the statements made in Mr. Schönauer’s petition are 

true. Mr. Schönauer enjoys full trust and gratitude from the parishioners because he has always 

been at their disposition. The fact that he shares the Croatian people’s views can be proved with the 

fact that he has always followed the political path of Croats; and the fact that he has grown together 

with Croatian people can be proved with his sympathy towards the Catholic church in Šestine, to 

which he has been a benefactor more than once. 

 
 

In Šestine [part of Zagreb], 5 August 1941 
 

Dr. IVAN DUKIĆ, parish priest 



Document No 17 Ordinary citizens on behalf of Vilim Schönauer on 9 August 1941 
 



 



Translation: 

Number 1879/41 

OFFICE CERTIFICATE 
 

Undersigned members of the municipal government hereby confirm that Mr. Vilim Schönauer, born 

in 1883 in Petanjca, district of Murska Sobota in Međimurje, has lived in Šestina munipality since 

1911, and that he became a permanent resident of Šestine in 1932, acquiring his legal rights by the 

municipal board. He has always behaved well and has never done anything against the interests of 

Croatian people; on the contrary, during the dictatorship, together with Croats, in every election he 

voted for the candidates of the opposition party, i.e. the candidate list of Dr. Maček. 
 

As a merchant, he has never charged us anything extra, but he was helping to the poor peasants by 

giving them groceries with delayed payments. And when someone owed him money, he did not 

insist on distraint, so even today some peasants owe him money, around 140 000 Dinars, and they 

are returning it voluntarily. 
 

This testimonial is issued on a personal request with charged seals and it can be used as an appendix 

to the petition, in order to acquire all rights that belong to people of Aryan descent, in reference to 

the Article 6 of the Law Decree on Racial Affiliation (from 30 April 1931) for his wife Marija 

Schönauer and himself. 
 

Municipal government 
 

Of Šestine [part of Zagreb], 9 August 1941 
 

Mayor Notary 
 

Krajač Čabrajec 
 

The truthfulness of the abovementioned statements can be confirmed by: Tabornik Krajač 

Signatures of peasants and artisans. 

(77 signatures) 



Document No 18 Ordinary citizens on behalf of Arpad Stern on 31 August 1941 
 



 



 



Translation: 
 

Sir Minister! 
 

A merchant called Arpad Stern, who was born in a village Nedeljanec (municipality of 

Vidovec next to Varaždin), has been living in Gradec since 1927. He has taken over the store owned 

by 72-year-old Anka Hirš, his wife’s aunt. Stern has spent more time in agriculture than around his 

store, because he owns 17 acres of land, and Mrs. Anka Hirš 13 acres. As any other peasant, Stern 

was plowing, digging, sowing, reaping, picking, mowing, drying and transporting. He did not differ 

from any other peasant nationally or politically. As a born Croat, he was, together with other 

patriots, voting for Croatian Peasant Party – not only during the Municipal elections, but also during 

the Parliamentary elections held on 5 May 1935 and on 11 December 1938. Stern has never 

emphasized his Jewish religion, but he has been repeatedly declaring his intention to become a 

Roman Catholic together with his wife and his son, so he donated 300 Dinars for the purchase of the 

new bell for the parish church. 
 

As a Jew, Stern was taken to the concentration camp and condemned to hard labor on 1 

August 1941. Undersigned Stern’s fellow citizens and acquaintances are pleading nicely to exempt 

him from the concentration camp, and let him return to his family in Gradec, where he can continue 

to cultivate his property. We are sure that Stern will appreciate this kindness, and that he will prove 

to be worthy of it through Croatian patriotic deed. 
 

Gradec, 31 August 1941 
 
 
 

(130 signatures) 



Document No 19 Hermina Karatilović on behalf of her husband Aleksander Kraus on 4 September 

1941 
 



Translation: 

HERMINA K A R A T I L O V I Ć 

married Kraus 

P L E A D S 

For the release of her husband Aleksander Kraus 

from the camp. 
 

Ministry of Interior 
 

Z A G R E B 
 

I, Hermina K a r a t i l o v i ć, loyal daughter of + Josipa Karatilović and + Aralija born Benić, 

born January 3, 1883 in Varaždin, have been a Roman-Catholic since the day I was born. I am a fine 

Croat, and I got married in Roman-Catholic church in Bosanska Dubica on 9 September 1932, for 

Aleksander Kraus, born in 1880 in Valpovo (near Osijek), which can be proven from the attached 

certificate issued by the Parish Office on 3 September 1941. 
 

My husband has never made any problem to me regarding the fact I am a Roman-Catholic 

and a fine Croat; moreover, he has always been very supportive about it. Since we have no children, 

he even adopted a poor Roman-Catholic child; Antun Vuković, born on 1 June 1927, in Bosanska 

Dubica, and raised him with me as a Roman-Catholic. Antun was attending school ran by the Sisters 

of Mercy in Banja Luka, and was raised as a proper Croat. 
 

My husband Aleksander Kraus was taken away to a camp by the local authorities together 

with other Jews. Allegedly, he is in Jasenovac camp. He is over 60 years old and he is an ill man; 

according to the attached medical certificate, he got hernia and is incapable of any physical work. 
 

I am as well old and ill and I am not able to earn any money or to take care for our adopted 

child, so if my husband remains imprisoned in the camp, our adopted child and I will starve to death. 

Therefore I am humbly asking the famous title to show mercy and make possible for me and my 

adopted child to avoid disaster by ordering the local authorities to release my husband Aleksander 

Kraus from the camp, because if he stays there, he will most definitely die, and therefore our 

adopted child and I would lose a person who provides bread and butter for us, and we would starve. 
 

Hoping that you will recognize our needs and accept this plea, I am thanking you in advance. 
 

Banja Luka, 4 September 1941 
 

FOR HOMELAND – READY! 
 

2 attachments Hermna Karatilović married Kraus 

Banja Luka 
 

(Signature) 



Document No 20 Ordinary citizens on behalf of Alexandor Šandor Löyi on 23 September 1941 
 



 



 



Translation: 

To the Ministry of Internal Affairs in Zagreb 
 
 
 

The undersigned are taking the liberty of submitting the following: 
 

Petition! 
 

Alexandor Šandor Löyi from Remetinec, k-number 22, municipality of Stupnik, born in 1883 

in Bjelovar, who has lived in Donja Lomnica for over 30 years, is now located in Jasenovac Jewish 

camp. He has always been a fine and honest Croat who has always and in every occasion supported 

our Croatian cultural institutions. He has been a member of Starčević society, choir ZORA (from 

Lomnica), choir Sijać (from Stupnik) and many other societies. 
 

He has been a devoted supporter of Croatian Peasant Party and has always showed support 

for the Croatian peasantry. Even though he is materially poor, whenever he was in a possibility to do 

it, he was helping us – either financially or morally. 
 

Besides that, he fought in the Great War; he was wounded and therefore physicians 

declared him to be disabled. 
 

In spite of that, he still fought on the side of professor Jušić, who can confirm it. 
 

As mentioned before, the person in question has lived for over 30 years in D. Lomnica, 

district of Velika Gorica, and has always been there for us; at least providing a fine advice, since he 

possesses no land or property. 
 

Since 1930 he has been employed at Mr. Zvonimir Unger’s office in Remetinec, and he has 

never done anything against the honourable Croatian people – on the contrary, he fought for the 

liberty of Croatia from the Serbian yokes. 
 

Based on this rationale, the undersigned are making this plea to the Ministry of Internal 

Affairs. 
 

To take this humble petition into consideration and set Šandor Alexandor Löyi free. 
 

Hrašće, 23 September 1941 
 
 
 

(72 signatures) 



Document No 21 The Advisory board of Zlatar Municipality on behalf of the families of Milan Weiss, 

Viktor Frankl, the Biller sisters and the physician Milan Kurschner 
 



Excerpt 

From the minutes of the Advisory board’s meeting held on 25 September 1941. 

Present: 

From the Municipality: Mirko Sviben mayor Marijan Šert municipal notary Bogdan Hercigonja 

[illegible] treasurer and Vjekoslav Škrlec, notary – charged as recording secretary. 

From the Board: Franjo Končić Anton Jakušić Stjepan Horvat and Jure [illegible]. 

As we have gathered in sufficient numbers for a quorum, the meeting starts: 

Items 18 to 29 were dropped 

Item 30 

Advisory board member Stjepan Horvat suggests that the Municipality [illegible] sends a request 

that its residents who follow the faith of Moses are not be persecuted, as they have always been 

upstanding citizens and Croats. – 

[illegible] 

The Advisory board unanimously advises the mayor to plead with the relevant authorities, in the 

name of members of the Municipality of Zlatar, that no measures be taken against its Jewish 

residents, including the families of Milan Weiss, Viktor Frankl, the Biller sisters and the physician 

Milan Kurschner, MD, as they have shown always shown [illegible] to the destitute among us and 

always assisted every true Croatian movement, irrespective of circumstances. 

The remaining items were dropped: 

[illegible sentence] 

From the Municipality: 

Mirko Sviben Mayor m.p. 

Marijan Šert Opć. notary m.p. 

V.D. Blagajnik Bogdan Hercigonja m.p. 
 

 
From the Board: 

Končić Franjo m.p. 

Antun Jakušić m.p. 

Stjepan Horvat m.p. 

Juraj [illegible] m.p. 

 

The correction of the minutes is guaranteed by: 

Municipal administration 



in Zlatar, 9 October 1941 
 

 
Recording secretary: Mayor: 

[signature] [signature] 



Document No 22 Ordinary citizens on behalf of Dragutin Stern on 17 October 1941 
 



Translation: 
 

Sir  
Great Prefect of Zagorje Parish 

 
 

in/ 

 
 
 

V a r a ž d i n. 
 

On the territory of Municipality of Vidovec there is not one merchant who would be 

capable of purchasing groceries, selling farmers’ products etc. like Dragutin Štern, a merchant from 

Vidovec, who is now imprisoned in a camp, allegedly in Krapje on Lonjsko Field. He is indispensable 

to us, and therefore the undersigned are pleading to let Dragutin Štern from Vidovec go home in 

order to be able to run his store, the one he has been running for years. 
 

As a handy merchant, in his store he always had all articles, even the ones have been 

impossible to find lately, because, as we have already said, there is no such a capable merchant in 

our place. 
 

Dragutin Štern knew how to export our products, so for them we would get an appropriate 

amount of money, and now it is not happening any longer. Also, as a handy merchant, he knew how 

to get everything we needed for a low price, which was very satisfactory for us. 
 

For all the reasons mentioned above, we plead you to release him and let him return to his 

home and run his store; of course, under the strict control of the Government. 
 

He is also generally an honest and a correct merchant; price gouging was never part of his 

business and everything he has earned, he has earned in an appropriate way. Besides that, he has 

been a fine Croat and has been helping every Croatian matter morally and financially. 
 

His father Alfred Stern was persecuted and imprisoned in 1932 during the reign of King 

Alexander, which proves this family was an honest and Croatian one. 
 

He, as well as his family, submitted a petition on June 10 of this year to convert to 

Catholicism – and it still has not been resolved. 
 

We would like to note that we have already submitted a similar petition for Mr. Dragutin 

Stern through Mr. Dr. Kuhnel, Superior for the Jews in Zagreb, Vojnovićeva Street, who forwarded 

the petition to the Ministry of Public Order and Peace. 
 

So once again we are asking you to release him in order to be able to run the store he has 

had here in Vidovec since long ago. 

In Vidovec, 17 October 1941 
 

(11 signatures) 



 

Document No 23 Agata Steiner on behalf of Hinko Steiner on 18 October 1941 
 



 



Translation: 

To Mister 

E U G E N K V A T E R N I K, 
 

Director of Ustasha Surveillance Service, 
 

Z A G R E B. 
 

Mister Director! 
 

I apologize for my boldness to contact you for the second time, but misfortune forces me to 

do it. 
 

My husband Hinko Steiner, former photographer of Zagreb police was arrested for the third 

time and now he is in a prison in Savska Cesta. 
 

First time he was arrested by the Police Directorate on June 16, because of suspicions of 

communism. He was released 5 days later, on your order. 
 

He was arrested for the second time by the Police Directorate on 12 September 1941, and 

was released on 11 October 1941. Neither the first nor the second time was he interrogated. 
 

Now he has been arrested for the third time by the Police Directorate (Mr. Vrkljan) for the 

same reasons, and I believe it is so because, as I mentioned, neither the first nor the second time 

was he interrogated. Therefore my conclusion is that this matter has not been completed, nor the 

file resolved. 
 

Your lordship! Mister Director! 
 

My husband is of Jewish descent, but has been baptized, and I am a Croat and an Aryan. Our 

son Duško, born in 1921, was baptized soon after his birth. Ministry of Internal Affairs issued a 

“permit” which exempts him from wearing the Jewish sign and allows him to work and move freely. 

In his petition for this permit, he referred to Minister Mr. Jozo Dumandžić, State Secretary Josip 

Milković and Department Superior dr. Mile Starčević. 
 

I have already stated all this in a petition I sent you when my husband was arrested last time. 
 

He has never shown any interest in communism in his life, and has never had contacts with 

any communist – everybody in Zagreb knows him as a Zagreb-born gentleman, an honest Croat who 

has never done anything to harm Croatian interests. Another person who can confirm this is the 

counselor of Ustasha People’s Service, Mr. E m i l P e r š k a, who has been an acquaintance of my 

husband since childhood and whom with my husband has been associated with for over twenty 

years, and he will gladly confirm it. 
 

Since my husband’s health condition has deteriorated during this month he has spent in 

prison (pulmonary tuberculosis) and he was even spitting blood, I am pleading Your Lordship to 

make this investigation end as soon as possible and release my husband from prison. Otherwise, his 

health will be completely ruined and we will have no means for life. The tragedy will become even 



greater knowing the fact our son is a medical student who is not earning anything, and he will have 

no means to finish his studies – he will be a dropout student and a man with no profession. 
 

Hoping that Your Lordship will realize how grave the position of our family is and take my 

petition into consideration, 
 

I am for homeland – ready. 
 

(Signature: Agata Steiner) 
 

Zagreb, 18 October 1941 



Document No 24 Zora Fröchlich on behalf of Makso Fröchlich on 20 October 1942 
 



Translation: 

Zora Fröhlich born Brnjas 

Zagreb 

50 Savska Cesta Zagreb, 20 October 1942 
 
 
 

Subject: Pleads for the protection of her husband 

Makso Fröhlich 

 
 

DIRECTORATE OF USTASHA POLICE 

OF INDEPENDENT STATE OF CROATIA 

Jewish Department 
 

Z A G R E B 
 
 
 

Undersigned is pleading the Title to issue a permit to my husband Makso Fröhlich to be able 

to live with me in a mixed marriage, and to protect him from the Anti-Jewish measures, in the sense 

that he might be taken to a concentration camp or dislodged. 
 

I am corroborating my petition with the following arguments: 
 

1). I was married to my husband on 21 March 1929, in a Croatian Old Catholic Church, which can be 

proven by a marriage certificate. 
 

2). By a certificate of baptism issued by a Roman-Catholic Parish Office in Garešnica (from 24 May 

1941), I am proving the fact I am of Aryan descent. 
 

3). By an excerpt from a transition book of the Old Catholic parish of Saint Cyril and Methodius in 

Karlovac from 12 July 1942, I prove that my husband converted to this religion on 30 June 1941. 
 

4). By the certificates of baptism of our children Tea and Ljerka issued by the parish office of the 

Roman-Catholic church in Garešnica, I prove that our children were baptized in the Roman-Catholic 

church on our request. 
 

5). By a permit number 40933 of the Ministry of Internal Affairs from 1941 (whose copy I am 

submitting), I prove that my husband got it as a fine and honest Croat. 
 

Since both my children and I, fine Aryans, live from my husband’s work and earnings, I am 

pleading the famous Title to resolve positively my petition, and hoping for it, I remain 
 

For Homeland – Ready! 
 

Attachments: Marriage certificate 

Certificate of baptism of Zora Fröhlich 

Certificate of baptism of Tea Fröhlich 



Certificate of baptism of Ljerka Fröhlich 

Excerpt about the transition 

Permit number 40933 
 
 
 

Zora Fröhlich born Brnjas 

(Signature) 



Document No 25 Ordinary citizens on behalf of Santole Eskenezi, Derventa, 8 December 1941 

 



 



Eskenaezi Santole from Derventa 

pleads for Aryan right 

To the Poglavnik of the Independent 

State of Croatia Ante Pavelić, PhD 

 
 

Zagreb 
 

 
I dare to plead with you, most exalted sir poglavnik, to kindly grant me Aryan rights for the following 

reasons: 

I was ever in favor and enamored with the ideas of Croatian people, as well as enthusiastic for and 

supportive of the very same. This I have proved by being a member of the Croatian Peasant Party for 

a long time, a member of the Economic Association [T/n: Gospodarska sloga), a member of Croatian 

singing choir “Zrinjski”, a member of the Croatian Woman [T/n: Hrvatska Žena], and by the fact that I 

am poor, but ever honest and upstanding citizen, which will [illegible] be confirm by my municipality 

and the Knez. 

I deeply hope, most exalted sir Poglavnik, that you will grant my humble request. 

I remain very grateful in advance. 

With regards, 

Santole Eskenezi 

Derventa, 8 XII 1941 
 

 
We confirm that the petitioner’s statements are accurate and kindly ask that they are fulfilled. 

[16 signatures] 



Document No 26 Matija Papež and Ante Džaja (Croatian Home Construction Committee) on behalf 

of Koloman Pollak on 30 December 1941 
 



Translation: 

A copy 
 
 
 

Croatian Home Construction committee – in Bosanski Brod. 
 
 
 

Bosanski Brod, 30 December 1941 
 
 
 

To: 
 

Berta Pollak 
 

Bosanski Brod. 
 
 
 

Upon your request, we gladly confirm that your husband, Mr. engr. Koloman Pollak, 

has donated 1.500,00 Kuna during the fundraising campaign for the construction of Croatian 

Home. 
 

Your husband has always been active when it comes to Croatian issues, so we 

corroborate the petition for his freedom. 

 
 

For homeland – ready. 
 
 
 

President: Secretary: 
 

Matija Papaž Ante Džaja 
 

Croatian Home Construction committee – in Bosanski Brod. 



Document No 27 Leonardo Novaković, guardian of a Franciscan monastery, on behalf of Koloman 

Polak on December, 1941 
 



Translation: 

Franciscan Monastery in Slavonski Brod 

of Saint Cyril and Methodius province 
 

Number 69/XII 1941 
 
 
 
 

To: Mrs. 
 

Berta POLLAK 
 

Bos. Brod. 
 
 
 

I have heard that you sent a petition for the release of your husband Koloman from 

the camp, and that the petition was followed by other petitions that came from Croatian societies 

from Bosanski Brod, which is certainly an honorable thing to do. I have heard about it later, so now, 

on behalf of the Franciscan Monastery (which your husband, as a reputable Bjelovar-born man, full 

of Croatian pride, has always made donations to), I would like to corroborate the petition and be of 

use to my good friend. I have heard that you and your children were baptized in mid-December, and 

I am sure my dear friend Koloman, your noble husband, would have done the same if he had not 

been taken to the camp. I have never perceived him as a Jew, because he has all the characteristics 

of a fiery Croat. 
 

In your sorrow, please accept my condolences. Kind regards. 
 

Yours, 
 

Fr Leonardo Novaković 
 

The guardian 



Document No 28 Ordinary citizens on behalf of Julije Ivan Lustig in 1941 
 



 



Translation: 

To the honorable 
 

Ministry of Internal Affairs 
 

Zagreb 
 

I would like to ask you to exempt me, my wife and my child from wearing of the 

Jewish sign and other compulsory anti-Jewish measures. 
 

I was born on 10 March 1889 in Osijek. I am a Roman Catholic and I have finished 

former trade college in Osijek. 
 

My wife Vera (born Wertheim) was born on 15 February 1908 in Zagreb. She is a 

Roman Catholic, and she graduated in grammar school in Zagreb. 
 

My son Ivo was born on 10 August 1936 in Zagreb. He is a Roman Catholic. 

I am corroborating my petition with this: 

Back in Osijek, as a pupil, I was a member of different Croatian cultural societies, 

including Croatian Falcon, during the times when the membership was forbidden for pupils. I was 

very active and among the first ranks of the youth of Croatian Party of Rights, who was fighting 

against the magyarization (hungarization) of our homeland. When the building extension was built 

on the Hungarian school, we organized a tough action that culminated in great demonstrations 

against the Hungarian school and its professors. I was one of the leaders and therefore convicted – I 

was imprisoned for 3 days by the police, and 8 days by the court. Besides that, I was expelled from 

Osijek grammar school. My punishment was turned into a fine, but since my parents were poor, the 

fine had been paid by deceased great patriots dr. Bedenić, dr. Pinterović, dr. Papratović and dr. 

Beumann. I continued my education in Zagreb and when the political persecution stopped, I was 

able to return to Osijek. 
 

In former Yugoslavia I have never done anything to harm Croatianhood nor have I ever voted 

for any anti-Croatian political option. In 1938 I voted for the list of dr. Maček, believing that would 

be of best interest for the Croatian cause. 

I would like to emphasize that I have been poor for all my life; neither me nor my wife or any 

of our family members possess any property – our only income is an official’s salary (3450 Dinars per 

month). 

I am aware I have no direct merits for the creation of Independent State of Croatia, but I 

claim I have deserved, by my attitude throughout my life, to be exempted from the forced anti- 

Jewish measures. 

I hope for the rightful resolution of my petition. 

With deepest respect, 

Julije Ivan Lustig 

an accountant 



19 Boškovićeva Street (2nd floor) 

 

 
My claims are confirmed by my former schoolmates, Aryan Croats. 

(3 signatures) 



Document No 29 Ivan Kohek on behalf of Olga Kohek in 1941 
 



Translation: 

Zagreb 

46 Jurišićeva Street 
 

Subject: Petition by which he pleads 

for the exemption of his wife Olga from 

wearing the Jewish sign. 

 
 

Ustasha Police Committee 

Jewish Department 

Z a g r e b. 
 

Referring to the order of the famous title by which every person of Jewish descent has to 

wear a special badge; regarding that, I have filed a petition for the exemption of my wife Olga Kohek 

born Belak from wearing such a sign. 

As I have already mentioned in the petition, I am a Croat, a Roman-Catholic, an Aryan, and 

my wife converted to Roman-Catholicism before she got married, i.e. 22 years ago. I have two sons, 

raised as Croatian patriots and Roman-Catholics. I would also like to emphasize that my wife has two 

sisters and a brother who converted to Roman-Catholicism during their early youth. 
 

Considering these facts, and the fact I have always been a fine Croat who has never done 

anything that might harm the interests of Croatian people in any sense (on the contrary, I have 

always acted in the direction marked by our famous Poglavnik), I am pleading once again the famous 

title to exempt my wife from wearing the Jewish sign. 
 

Expecting for your answer, I am at your disposition, greeting you with Croatian salute 
 

FOR HOMELAND – READY! 
 

(Signature) 
 
 
 

Warmly recommended by the redaction 

of weekly magazine 

HRVATSKA GRUDA 
 
 
 

Till is final resolution is made, 

exempt them from wearing the sign. 

Zagreb, 16 June 1941 



Document No 30 Croatian artists on behalf of Fanika Gewoelb 
 



 



Translation: 

FANIKA GEWOELB, ZAGREB 

30 KRAJIŠKA STREET 

pleads for the recognition of rights defined by the 

Article 6 of the Law Decree 

on Racial Affiliation 
 
 
 

Copy of the petition 
 
 
 

MINISTRY OF INTERNAL AFFAIRS 

Department for Racial Affiliation 
 

ZAGREB 
 
 
 

I am taking the liberty of submitting my petition to the High title, in order to gain the 

Aryan rights defined by the Article 6 of the Law Decree on Racial Affiliation. 

I was born in 1894 in Selnica (district of Donja Stubica), and I have lived in Zagreb for 

45 years, basically since I was born. I am not married. 

I was raised as a Croat, and I have never felt as anything other but a fine Croat. As 

such, I have been employed for 31 year (constantly) in Ulrich Art Studio, where I work modestly and 

conscientiously, and my owners, who are Aryans and Catholics, have always been satisfied with my 

work, as well as many other Croatian artists – because I have always seen my job as a tool for 

promoting Croatian art and helping Croatian artists, and not only a mean to earn money for living. 

Besides my salary, I own no property. 

Truthfulness of my statements can be confirmed by the undersigned Croatian artists, 

some of whom are famous Ustashas. 

Hoping for a favourable resolution of my petition, I still feel ready and obliged to 

serve the abovementioned aims, and I am sending 
 

Kind regards 

(Signature) 
 

People who can confirm my statements: 

Rudolf Marčić, a painter, lieutenant colonel of Ustasha Army 

Karlo Mijić 

Josip Horvat, a painter 

M. Trepše 

Juraj Škarpa 

Viktor Šipek, an academic painter 

Prof. P. Papp 

Prof. Robert Auer 

Mirko Uzorinac, an academic painter 



 

Robert Jean Ivanović, a professor and a sculptor 

Vilko Gecan, an academic painter 

D. Kokotović, an academic painter 

Djuro Tiljak, an academic painter 

Josip Turkalj, an academic sculptor 

Grga Antunac, an academic sculptor 

Mirko Rački, an academic painter 

SLavko Tomerlin, an academic painter 

Frano Kršinić, an academic sculptor 

Zlatko Šulentić, an academic painter 

Prof. Ljubo Babić, an academic painter 

Prof. Ivo Kerdić, an academic sculptor 

Edo Ulrich, a merchant 

 
 
 
 

INDEPENDENT STATE OF CROATIA 

MINISTRY OF INTERNAL AFFAIRS 

 
 

Number: 51906/1941 Zagreb, 28 November 1941 
 
 
 

PERMIT 
 

Regarding the petition of FANIKA GEWÖLB from Zagreb, 30 Krajiška Street 
 
 
 

FANIKA GEWÖLB from Zagreb, born in 1894 in Selcima, of Jewish religion, as a citizen of Independent 

State of Croatia, is permitted (until the further notice) to stay on the territory of Independent State 

of Croatia and engage in her private affairs (within the limits of existing legislation). 
 

She is also exempted from wearing the Jewish sign. 
 

General Assistant 

of the Minister of Internal Affairs 



Document No 31 Žarko Šimat on behalf of Fanika Gewoelb 
 



Translation: 

TO THE DIRECTORATE FOR PUBLIC ORDER AND SECURITY 

JEWISH DEPARTMENT 
 

Z A G R E B 
 

In a special capacity, as a Croatian artist, it is my honor to address the Title with the 

following petition: 

Fanika Gewoelb from Zagreb, 30 Kraiška Street, a Jew, was arrested during the night 

between the 10 and the 11 of this month by the Directorate for Public Order and Security, and was 

probably taken to the camp with other Jews. Since I know Fanika Gewoelb personally, I would like to 

ask you to set her free and eventually let her continue her work, based on the permission from the 

Ministry of Internal Affairs number 51906/41 from 28 November 1941, which is attached. 

To corroborate this petition, I attached uncertified copy of Fanika Gewoelb’s petition which 

she sent to the Ministry of Internal Affairs, Department of Racial Affiliation, and for which most 

prominent Croatian artists have corroborated. 

FOR HOMELAND – READY! 
 

Žarko Šimat 

(Signature) 
 
 
 

Attachment: 2 pieces 

of original petition 

by Fanika Gewoebl for 

the recognition of the rights 

of an Aryan person, 

located at the Ministry of 

Internal Affairs 



Document No 32 Ordinary citizens on behalf of Family Klein 
 



 



 



Translation: 

To Sir 
 

GREAT PREFECT OF GREAT PARISH OF ZAGORJE 
 

In/ 
 

V A R A Ž D I N 
 
 
 

On 4 August 1941, Josip Klein, his wife Josipa, his sons Ivica and Miroslav and his brother 

Ljudevit, were all taken from their home in Dolić close to Krapina. 
 

They have all been deported to the internment camp in Gospić on State Ovćarska Station. 
 

Josip and Josipa Klein were involved in trade business and they kept an inn in Dolić, and were 

helped by Josip Klein’s unmarried brother, Ljudevit. 
 

They were born in Croatia, district of Krapina, except for Josipa Klein, who was also born in 

Croatia, but in Pitomaća. 
 

They all consider themselves Croats and have always voted only for Croatian lists and have 

treated everybody nicely and had good relations with them. They have run their store honestly and 

it was of great benefit for the local peasantry because during winter, when people had no food, it 

always provided groceries for them and the Kleins would always provide favorable conditions of 

paying, such as delayed payment. If the peasants had no means to pay, they would cancel their 

debts. 
 

Therefore, they had no property except from the house they lived in, and a small plot around 

it. However, the house is burdened with trade debts, and this is because they were trading they way 

it has been described above. 
 

It could be said that these debts are as high as the worth of the real estate. 
 

For all these reasons, Josip Klein filed a petition made by a big number of the villagers – to 

acquire the rights that belong to the people of Aryan descent, according to the Article 6 of the Law 

Decree on Racial Affiliation. 
 

This petition has been certified by the Ustasha headquarters in Krapina, but like other 

petitions of the kind, it has still not been resolved. 
 

Since it is clear from the abovementioned statements that Josip Klein and his family never 

did anything wrong, but on the contrary, behaved as true Croats and loyal members of society (and 

in economic sense their trade was very beneficial for this region), there were no reasons for an 

urgent deportation of him and his family from their home to the camp. 
 

Josip and Josipa Klein are both almost 60 years old. They are both in bad health; Josip Klein had to 

treat his diabetes and rheumatism, and Josipa Klein suffers from chronic heart failure and 



approximately two years ago she went through a complicated operation from which she has never 

completely recovered. 

For all of the above mentioned, we, undersigned neighbors and villagers, who are well 

familiar with the work and the stance of this honest family, are pleading, 
 

To set Josip and Josipa Klein free from the camp, along with other members of their family, 

and let them come back to their home, and allow them to live there permanently and undisturbed. 
 

(72 signatures) 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Source: 
 
Hrvatski državni arhiv (HDA) [Croatian State Archives]. Ravnateljstvo ustaškog redarstva (RUR) – Židovski 
odsjek [Headquarter of Ustasha Police – Jewish Section], 252. Zagreb, Croatia 
 
Hrvatski državni arhiv (HDA) [Croatian State Archives]. Ministarstvo državne riznice. Odjel za novčarstvo, 
državnu imovinu i dugove. Ured za podržavljeni imetak (PONOVA) [Ministry of State Treasury Department of 
State Property, Misappropriations and Debts Office for Nationalized Property (PONOVA). Zagreb, Croatia. 
 
United States Holocaust Memorial Museum (USHMM). A. 0019, Reel 2 file 2 / A.0027, Ree1 file 
4. Washington, DC, 1998. 


